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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

STERLING TACKLE LLC

Plaintiff, : CIVIL ACTION NO.
V.

TORMENTER FISHING PRODUCTS
INC.

Defendant.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Sterling Tackle LLC (“Sterling”), by and through its undersigned counsel for its
Complaint against Defendant Tormenter Fishing Products Inc. (“Tormenter”), hereby alleges as
follows:

NATURE OF CLAIMS

1. Sterling brings this action for patent infringement against Defendant for making,
using, offering to sell, selling and/or importing a sidewinder directional bar product that
incorporates patented technology owned by Sterling.

2. By this Complaint, Sterling asserts U.S. Patent No. 11,044,897 ("the *897 patent")

against Defendant to prevent Defendant’s infringing conduct.

THE PARTIES

3. Sterling is a limited liability company organized under the laws of New Jersey,
having its principal place of business at 518 RT. 9 South, Marmora, New Jersey. Sterling is a

pioneer in developing and manufacturing improved fishing systems and devices.
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4. Tormenter is a corporation organized under the laws of Florida, having its principal
place of business at 613 Riverside Road, North Palm Beach, Florida.

5. Tormenter operates and maintains a website, https://www.tormenterocean.com/
and a YouTube page at https://www.youtube.com/user/TormenterTackle, which promote and
advertise its products including its sidewinder directional bar product, which infringes the *897

patent.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331
and 1338(a).

7. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 and 1400(b).

8. Tormenter has engaged in business in this District, has advertised its infringing
products in this District, has offered such infringing products for sale in this District and
throughout the United States, and has harmed Plaintiff in this District and throughout the United
States by its infringement of the *897 patent.

0. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Tormentor because Tormentor has
established minimum contacts with the forum such that the exercise of personal jurisdiction over
Tormentor will not offend the traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.

10.  For example, Tormentor has knowingly and actively engaged in acts that have
infringed and will infringe and/or contribute, induce, aid and/or abet the direct infringement of

the *897 patent in the Southern District of Florida and throughout the United States.
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Sterling Tackle LL.C

11. Since 2017 Sterling has been a supplier of fishing products related to its spreader
bar technology - technology protected by the 897 patent. Sterling is a pioneer in developing and
manufacturing improved fishing systems and devices, particularly improved trolling systems and
devices.

12.  The ’897 patent, entitled “FISHING LURE TROLLING SPREADER BAR,” was
duly and legally issued by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) on June 29, 2021.
A copy of the *897 patent is attached as Exhibit A.

13. Sterling Tackle is the assignee of, and owns all right, title and interest in, the 897
patent. Attached hereto as Exhibit B is a copy of the assignment for the *897 patent as executed
on May 22, 2020 and was recorded at reel 056249 and frame 0696 on May 14, 2021.

Sterling’s Spreader Bar Products

14. Sterling, using the technology of the 897 patent, has developed its spreader bar
products for trolling to catch fish. The spreader bar products are for trolling and designed to allow
a user to easily set fishing lines behind a fishing vessel at varying angles and distances, thereby
increasing the width of the full trolling lure spread and the number of lures that may be pulled
behind a trolling vessel while fishing.

15. For example, a user may use the spreader bar product so that lures run wide from
behind a fishing vessel in water that is essentially undisturbed by the vessel’s engine
turbulence/bubble trail and wake, thus providing better visibility of the lures as well as a more

natural setting to the predator fish who do most of their feeding in natural undisturbed water.
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Further, lures that run wide can eliminate the need for expensive outriggers attached to each side
of the fishing vessel.

16. Sterling markets its spreader bar products as Tracker Bar and Chaos Trackers.

Information about Sterling’s spreader bar products are included on its website at

https://www.sterlingtackle.com/trackerbars and https://www.sterlingtackle.com/chaosbars.
17.

Sterling practices the claimed invention of the 897 patent by making and selling
the spreader bar products.

18. Sterling marks its spreader bar products that are covered by the 897 patent with
the *897 patent to give public notice that the 897 patent covers those products.

19. For example, Sterling provides public notice of its patents on its website concerning

the 897 patent and that it covers Sterling products at https://www.sterlingtackle.com/trackerbars.

sterlingtackle.com/trackerbars
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We are shipping out all orders within one business day.
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Log In ” View Cart: 0
BUILT 10 CATCH

Chaos Bars ‘ Tracker Bars ‘ Spreader Bars

Daisy Chains

Single Lures ‘ Dredges ‘ Apparel ‘ Bargain Page | More
Tracker Barse

The Original Sterling Tracker Bars:

This product is protected by one or more of the following patents or
patent applications: US 11,044,837 and US 15/929,793

We introduced the Tracker Bar in 2017 and it quickly became our best selling and most effective lure. The Sterling Tracker is made with
an angled keel under the bar bird. This causes the bar to track up to 30" outwards from its normal tracking line. The Tracker's ability ta
reach the cleaner water, outside the wake, enables it to attract maore bites.

The Tracker Bar can be pulled straight from rod tip or outriggers. Whether you fish it from your outriggers or rod tips, this innovative bar

allows you to increase your overall spread width by as much as 60'. Available in Port and Starboard versions, or you can buy a pair, which
will have one of each. Tip: You can double rig your long rigger with two clips to maximize the effect.
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20.  Sterling makes, sells and offers to sell its products in the Southern District of
Florida and throughout the United States.

Tormentor And Its Infringing Activities

21.  Defendant Tormentor is a provider of fishing products, including sidewinder
directional bar products. Tormentor offers to sell, sells, transports, and/or imports its sidewinder
directional bar products in this District and throughout the United States.

22.  Tormentor’s sidewinder directional bars contain each and every feature of claim 1
of the *897 patent. Below is a table comparing a Tormentor sidewinder directional bar product

to claim 1 of the 897 patent:
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Claim 1 of Tormentor sidewinder directional bar product
U.S. Pat. No.
11,044,897

[1.0] A _
trolling Trolling spreader

spreader bar bar
comprising: Al

Elongated
central

body

A spreader bar that extends laterally outward
from the elongated central body, wherein the
spreader bar comprises a first rod and a second
rod that extend laterally from the elongated
central body

[1.1] an See [1.0] above
elongated
body;
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Claim 1 of Tormentor sidewinder directional bar product
U.S. Pat. No.
11,044,897
[[.2] a See [1.0] above
spreader bar
that extends
laterally
outward from
the elongated
central body,
wherein the
spreader bar
comprises a
first rod and a
second rod
that extend
laterally from
the elongated
central body;
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Claim 1 of Tormentor sidewinder directional bar product
U.S. Pat. No.
11,044,897
[1.3] a keel
that extends
from a ventral
surface of the
elongated
central body
at an angle
relative to a
longitudinal
axis of the

longated
Ee(;lrtlfai l?)ody, The keel extends at an

such that, angle relative to a
when trolling longitudinal axis of
in a body of the elongated central
water at or body

near a surface
of the body of
water, the
elongated
central body is
guided
laterally Keel
outwardly
from a
direction of
travel of the
trolling
spreader bar
while trolling;

Ventral surface
of elongated
central body
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Claim 1 of
U.S. Pat. No.
11,044,897

Tormentor sidewinder directional bar product

[1.4] two first
bait lures,
each of the
two first bait
lures having a
head end and
a tail end,
wherein one
first bait lure
of the two
first bait lures
is attached to
a distal end of
the first rod at
its head end,
and another
first bait lure
of the two
first bait lures
is attached to
a distal end of
the second rod
at its head
end; and

One first bait lure of the two Two first bait lures, each Another first bait lure
first bait lures is attached to a of the two first bait lures of the two first bait
distal end of the first rod at its having a head end and a lures is attached to a

head end tail end distal end of the second
rod at its head end

Head end
of first
bait lure

Head end of
/ first bait lure/'
- \
Tail end of 4 \
first bait lure | - Tail end of

first bait lure

I\
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Claim 1 of Tormentor sidewinder directional bar product

U.S. Pat. No.

11,044,897

[1.5] A plurality of bait lures interconnected to each
plurality of . . .

bait lures of the two first bait lures by a line extending
interconnected between a tail end of a preceding bait lure and a
to each of the First bait lure head end of a succeeding bait lure

two first bait
lures by a line \
extending '

between a tail

end of a
First bait lure

preceding bait
lure and a
head end of a
succeeding
bait lure;

Line

A plurality of bait lures interconnected to
each of the two first bait lures by a line
extending between a tail end of a
preceding bait lure and a head end of a
succeeding bait lure
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Claim 1 of Tormentor sidewinder directional bar product
U.S. Pat. No.
11,044,897
[1.6] wherein
at least one of
the two first
bait lures
further
comprises a
counterweight
, wherein the
counterweight
is carried
within a body
of the at least
one of the two
first bait lures.

At least one of the

first two bait lures
further comprises
a counterweight

The counterweight is
carried within a body of
the at least one of the
two first bait lures

23.  Tormentor’s sidewinder directional bars contain each and every feature of claim 13
of the *897 patent. Below is a table comparing a Tormentor sidewinder directional bar product

to claim 13 of the ‘897 patent:

Claim 13 of | Tormentor sidewinder directional bar product
U.S. Pat. No.
11,044,897
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[13.0] A
trolling
spreader bar
comprising:

Trolling
spreader bar

Elongated
central
body

A spreader bar that extends laterally outward from
the elongated central body, wherein the spreader
bar comprises a first rod and a second rod that
extend laterally from the elongated central body

[13.1] an See [13.0] above
elongated
central body;
[13.2] a See [13.0] above
spreader bar
that extends
laterally
outward from
the elongated
central body,
wherein the
spreader bar
comprises a
first rod and a
second rod
that extend
laterally from
the elongated
central body;
[13.3] a keel
that extends
from a ventral
surface of the
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elongated L
central body The keel extends

at an angle at an angle N 4
relative to a relative to a

longitudinal longitudinal axis
axis of the of the elongated

elongated central body
central body,
such that,
when trolling
in a body of
water at or
near a surface
of the body of
water, the
elongated
central body
is guided
laterally Keel
outwardly
from a
direction of
travel of the
trolling
spreader bar
while trolling;

Ventral
surface of
elongated

central body
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Eilr?;rgati:vo _ Two first bait lure:s, each of | | Another first bait lqre

One first bait lure of the two the two first bait lures of the two first bait
lures, each of first bait lures is attached to a having a head end and a lures is attached to a
the two first distal end of the first rod at tail end distal end of the
bait lures its head end second rod at its head
having a head end

end and a tail

end, wherein

one first bait Head end
lure of the . of first
two ﬁrst bait bait lure
I“reshls | Tailend of | /

at.tac cdtoa first bait [ Tail end
distal end of lure ap en
the first rod at bOf.tﬁfSt
its head end, o

and another
first bait lure
of the two
first bait lures
is attached to
a distal end of
the second
rod at its head
end;
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[13.5 ]'and a A plurality of bait lures interconnected to each
plgrahty of of the two first bait lures by a line extending
balt lures between a tail end of a preceding bait lure and
Interconnecte Line a head end of a succeeding bait lure
d to each of
the two first /\
?ait lures gy 4 || First bait lure e //
ne extending ‘ = A
between a tail '
end of a e
preceding bait ‘ . F
lure and a % '
head end of a :
succeeding , K
bait lure; . . :
First bait lure
T, ¥
e o —
Line

A plurality of bait lures interconnected to each of

the two first bait lures by a line extending between

a tail end of a preceding bait lure and a head end

of a succeeding bait lure

[13.6]
wherein at

least one of
the two first
bait lures is a
teaser bait
lure having
two wings
extending
laterally from
the body of
the teaser bait
lure, wherein
the teaser bait
lure
comprises
dense plastic
material.
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At least one of the two first bait lures is a teaser

bait having two wings extending laterally from

the body of the teaser bait lure. The teaser bait
lure comprises dense plastic material.

24. The above tables are non-limiting examples that illustrate how Tormentor’s
sidewinder directional bar products infringe claims of the 897 patent. Tormentor also offers other
products that infringe claims of the 897 patent.

25. Tormentor’s sidewinder directional bars are substantially the same as Sterling’s
spreader bar products, which are covered by the *897 patent. Below is a table providing a product-
by-product comparison of the key features of a Sterling spreader bar product and a Tormentor

sidewinder directional bar product:
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Sterling spreader bar product covered by
the °897 patent

Tormentor sidewinder directional bar

product

Trolling
spreader bar

Elongated
central
body

a spreader bar that extends laterally outward
from the elongated central body, wherein the
spreader bar comprises a first rod and a second
rod that extend laterally from the elongated
central body;

Trolling spreader

bar

< N .
-

N

\

N

Elongated
central
body

a spreader bar that extends laterally outward
from the elongated central body, wherein the
spreader bar comprises a first rod and a second
rod that extend laterally from the elongated

central body;

Ventral surface
of elongated
central body

The keel extends at an
angle relative to a
longitudinal axis of
the elongated central
body

Ventral surface
of elongated
central body

The keel extends at an
angle relative to a
longitudinal axis of

the elongated central

body
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Bait lure interconnected to the first bait lure by
a line extending between a tail end of a
preceding bait lure and a head end of a

succeeding bait lure

First bait lure

g

First bait lure

N

Bait lure interconnected to the first bait
lure by a line extending between a tail end
of a preceding bait lure and a head end of a

succeeding bait lure

Bait lures interconnected to the first bait lure
by a line extending between a tail end of a
preceding bait lure and a head end of a
succeeding bait lure

First bait lure

pl

—mN s e

e

First bait lure

Bait lures interconnected to the first bait
lure by a line extending between a tail end
of a preceding bait lure and a head end of a

succeeding bait lure

At least one of the

first two bait lures
further comprises
a counterweight

The counterweight is
carried within a body of
the at least one of the
two first bait lures

At least one of the

first two bait lures
further comprises
a counterweight

|

The counterweight is
carried within a body of
the at least one of the

two first bait lures

26.

The above table is a non-limiting example that illustrates how Tormentor’s

sidewinder directional bar products are substantially the same as Sterling’s spreader bar product,

which is covered by the 897 patent.
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27. As can be appreciated from the above, Tormentor copied Sterling’s spreader bar
trawling products to make and sell competitive products. As discussed herein, these Tormentor
“knock-off” products infringe the *897 patent.

28. At least as early as August 29, 2021, Tormentor knew of the 897 patent and knew
its sidewinder directional bar products infringed at least claims 1 and 13 of the 897 patent.
Attached hereto as Exhibit C is a copy of a letter provided to Tormentor on August 29, 2021.

29. Tormentor sells its products to customers in the U.S. at least through its website,
which contains descriptions and images of its products, including the sidewinder directional bars.

30. In addition to descriptions and images on its website, Tormentor also provides
videos displaying use of its sidewinder directional bar product to help its customers infringe the
’897 patent. For example, Tormentor provides a promotional video on its YouTube page
(available at https://www.youtube.com/user/TormenterTackle) (e.g., the March 9, 2021 video).
This video encourages customers to buy and use Tormentor’s sidewinder directional bar products
to infringe the 897 patent. Tormentor maintains this video on its YouTube page knowing that its
customers’ use of the sidewinder directional bar products infringe the 897 patent.

31. Tormentor directly and/or through intermediaries (including distributors, retailers
and others), uses, ships, distributes, offers for sale, sells or advertises its sidewinder directional
bar products within the United States and in the Southern District of Florida.

32. Tormentor has purposely and voluntarily placed and used infringing products using
the claimed inventions of the *897 patent into the stream of commerce with the expectation that
they will be purchased by consumers in the Southern District of Florida as well as other parts of

the United States.
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33, Tormentor’s products have been made, used, sold and/or offered for sale in the
Southern District of Florida and other parts of the United States.

34, Tormentor committed and continues to commit acts of patent infringement within
the United States and in the Southern District of Florida by making, using, offering to sell, selling
and/or importing its sidewinder directional bar products.

35. Tormentor’s conduct has been willful in infringing Sterling’s *897 patent.

36. Sterling has been and will continue to be irreparably harmed by Tormentor’s

infringement of the *897 patent.

COUNT I: INFRINGEMENT OF THE 897 PATENT

Sterling restates and realleges the foregoing allegations as if fully stated herein.
37. Tormentor has infringed and continues to infringe at least claims 1 and 13 of the
’897 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).

38. Tormentor has indirectly infringed and continues to indirectly infringe at least
claims 1 and 13 of the 897 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) and (c), by actively inducing
such infringement with knowledge of the 897 patent and by contributing to the infringement of
such patent. Tormentor has taken active steps to instruct others in the U.S. (e.g. their customers
and prospective customers) how to use Tormentor sidewinder directional bar products in
infringement of the 897 Patent. This is done with the specific intent to infringe the *897 Patent
and encourage its customers to infringe the *897 patent.

39.  Tormentor’s sidewinder directional bar products are not a staple article of

commerce suitable for substantial noninfringing use.

40. Sterling has been, and continues to be, damaged and irreparably harmed by

Tormentor’s infringement, which will continue unless the Court enjoins that infringement.
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41. Sterling under 35 U.S.C. § 284, is entitled to recover damages adequate to
compensate for Tormentor’s infringement.

42. The infringement of the 897 patent by Tormentor has been, and continues to be,
deliberate, willful, and knowing.

43. The Court should declare this an exceptional case under 35 § U.S.C. 285, entitling
Sterling to recover treble damages and attorney’s fees.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court grant the relief requested in the Prayer for

Relief below.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Sterling demands a trial by jury under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 39 for all issues

triable by jury.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Sterling prays for judgment in its favor and against Tormentor as follows:

(a) That Tormentor has infringed, contributed to and induced the infringement of one
or more claims of the ’897 patent;

(b) That Sterling be awarded damages for Tormentor’s infringement of the *897 patent;

(©) That Tormentor’s infringement of the 897 patent has been willful;

(d) That this case be declared an exceptional case under 35 U.S.C. § 285;

(e) That Sterling’s damages be trebled pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284;

) That Sterling be awarded its attorney’s fees and costs pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 285;

(2) That this Court permanently enjoin Tormentor, its officers, directors, principals,
agents, servants, employees, successors, assigns, affiliates, and all that are in active concert or

participation with Tormentor, or any of them, from further infringement of the 897 patent and
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that Tormentor be permanently enjoined from infringing the 897 patent and from making,
using, selling, offering to sell, or distributing Tormentor’s sidewinder directional bar products
and other infringing products;

(h) That Sterling is entitled to all forms of exemplary and punitive damages based on
Tormentor’s willful, intentional and malicious conduct;

(1) That Sterling be awarded pre- and post-judgment interest on all damages;

() That Sterling be awarded all its costs and expenses in this action; and

(k) Such further and other relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

Dated: February 1, 2022
Respectfully submitted,

By: /s/ Jennifer Olmedo-Rodriguez
Jennifer Olmedo-Rodriguez, Esq.
Fla. Bar No.: 605158
BUCHANAN INGERSOLL & ROONEY PC
One Biscayne Tower
2 S Biscayne Blvd Ste. 1500
Miami, FL 33131-1822
Tel.: (305) 347-4080
Fax: (305) 347-4089
Email: jennifer.olmedo-rodriguez@bipc.com

-and-

Jason Camillo (PA313643)

(pro hac vice to be filed)

BUCHANAN INGERSOLL & ROONEY PC
Union Trust Building

501 Grant Street, Suite 200

Pittsburgh, PA 15219-4413

Tel.: (412) 392-1696

Fax: (412) 562-1041

Email: jason.camillo@bipc.com

-and-
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Ralph G. Fischer (PA200793)

(pro hac vice to be filed)

BUCHANAN INGERSOLL & ROONEY PC
Union Trust Building

501 Grant Street, Suite 200

Pittsburgh, PA 15219-4413

Tel.: (412) 392-2121

Fax: (412) 562-1041

Email: ralph.fischer@bipc.com

Attorneys for Sterling Tackle LLC

4856-5094-4524, v. 1
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	Sterling demands a trial by jury under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 39 for all issues triable by jury.

